
COMMUNITY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL AGENDA

Date: Monday, 1 February 2021

Time: 6.00 pm

Venue: Virtual Meeting

22 January 2021

PART 1
1. Apologies. 

2. Notification of Substitute Members, if any. 

3. To Approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting. (Pages 3 - 8)

4. Declaration of Interests: 

 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

 Other Interests

5. Questions to Portfolio Holders, if any. (6:10 p.m) 
(At least two clear days notice required, in writing, to the Proper Officer in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 15).

6. Local Policing Team Annual Update - Chief Inspector Mark Thorley. (6:20 p.m) 
(Pages 9 - 12)

7. Public Spaces Protection Order - Alcohol Exclusion Zones (6:50 p.m) (To Follow)

8. Call-in of the Delegated Decision - Proposal for use of Discretionary Disabled 
Facilities funding for a Community Project at the South Moorlands Leisure Centre, 
Cheadle (7:10 p.m) (Pages 13 - 24)

9. Work Programme (7:40 p.m) (Pages 25 - 26)
Any additional items to be added to the Work Programme:

 Chair’s Items
 Members’ Items

MARK TRILLO
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 
scanning the code below:

Public Document Pack



Membership of Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel
Councillor D Shaw (Chair) Councillor T McNicol (Vice-Chair)
Councillor J Aberley Councillor G Bentley
Councillor G Heath Councillor I Herdman
Councillor K Hoptroff Councillor B A Hughes
Councillor B Johnson Councillor J T Jones
Councillor K Martin Councillor T Riley
Councillor P Roberts Councillor L Swindlehurst
Councillor P Taylor Councillor R Ward
Councillor P Wood Councillor N Yates



1

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

COMMUNITY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL 
MEETING

Minutes

MONDAY, 23 NOVEMBER 2020
PRESENT: Councillor  T McNicol (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: J Aberley, G Bentley, G Heath, I Herdman, K Hoptroff, 
B A Hughes, J T Jones, K Martin, T McNicol, T Riley, P Roberts, 
L Swindlehurst, P Taylor, R Ward and N Yates

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor I Plant, M Bowen, S Scalise, J Porter, M A Deaville, 
M Gledhill and E Fallows

APOLOGIES: Councillors D Shaw and P Wood

16 NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS, IF ANY.

There were none.

17 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING.

DECIDED: That the minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on the 5th October 
2020 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

18 TO NOTE THE MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING OF THE POLICE, FIRE 
AND CRIME PANEL.

DECIDED: That the minutes from the last meeting of the Staffordshire Police, Fire 
and Crime Panel be NOTED.

19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS:

Agenda No. Member Declaring 
Interest

Nature of Interest

Agenda Item  8 – Early 
Outcomes Fund Project

Cllr K. Martin
Other – Works 
with the Early 
Intervention Team.

Agenda Item 7 – Police, Fire 
& Rescue Crime Annual 
Update

Cllr G. Bentley
Other – Fire and 
Rescue Service 
Volunteer.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 23 November 2020

2

Cllr J. Porter

Other – Member of 
the Staffordshire 
Moorlands Safer 
Neighbourhood 
Panel.

20 QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS, IF ANY.

Question received from Councillor Swindlehurst:

“At Leek Town Council General Purposes Committee, Councillors discussed the 
issue of homelessness and temporary accommodation. The question was raised 
about the plans that began in 2018 to renovate No 3, The Villas, (having been empty 
for many years), for the provision of temporary accommodation for vulnerable 
people. Despite some work having been undertaken, the accommodation remains 
unused for this proposed purpose and has begun to deteriorate once again. This is a 
crucial time in relation to the spread of Covid-19, with research to suggest rough 
sleepers and sofa-surfers to be potentially vulnerable, and by sharing multiple 
accommodations be a risk related to spread. My question is, has this project been 
shelved, and if so, where and why was this agreed?”

Response from Councillor Bowen – Portfolio Holder for Communities:

Some works had started, however, there were unforeseen difficulties with the utilities 
and supply. When the pandemic hit in March, the limited resources of the Housing 
Team had to be redirected to placing rough sleepers; most of whom are single. The 
property was to be for families and happily, we haven’t seen the predicted increase 
in domestic violence etc. so the current temporary accommodation provision has 
been sufficient. It made sense to mothball this project until such time as it became 
needed and resource could be directed.

I have to say that workload, especially given the Tiers and subsequent lockdown has 
stretched the Team to capacity and beyond and is a testament to their commitment 
and dedication that we have managed to exceed Government expectations in our 
work with rough sleepers.

By way of supplementary questions, Councillor Swindlehurst asked about the 
housing of single people and raised the national issue of increased domestic 
violence. It was confirmed that the Council’s Housing Team would do its upmost to 
provide accommodation for any person found in need of housing. Domestic violence 
campaigns for both men and women had taken place and any person listed on the 
housing register which was a victim of domestic violence had been contacted by the 
Council. 

21 POLICE, FIRE & RESCUE AND CRIME ANNUAL UPDATE - MATTHEW 
ELLIS, STAFFORDSHIRE COMMISSIONER & GLYNN DIXON, CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE. (PRESENTATION)

Matthew Ellis – Staffordshire Commissioner, was present to provide the Panel with 
its annual update. Firstly, he advised members that the figures around domestic 
violence varied widely across the County and a cross agency piece of work had 
recently been commissioned to review the national picture. Page 4



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 23 November 2020

3

Overall, the level of crime in the Moorlands had reduced, however, in Cheadle an 
increase had been seen and the Inspector had put measures in place to improve the 
situation there. Crime related to drugs was low and anti-social behaviour also 
remained a problem is some areas of the District. 

The Panel was informed that investment in the Police Force was necessary and a 
significant number of police officers were being recruited.  

Discussion took place around the role of the Safer Neighbourhood Panel and 
policing during the pandemic, drug related crime in Cheadle, non-molestation orders, 
safe and well checks and enforcement of non-compliance of Covid-19 regulations. 

The Commissioner would provide a response to the following subject areas after the 
meeting:-

1. Outcome of the work commissioned to review domestic violence (expected in 
3 months);

2. Figures for the crimes recorded in Cheadle, particularly around drugs and 
domestic violence;

3. Clarity around alleged costs for non- molestation orders;
4. Figures on the number of Safe and Well checks carried out by the Fire 

Service;
5. Information on the latest recruitment drive to increase the number of female 

officers and people from different ethnic groups being employed.

The Chair thanked Matthew Ellis for attending the meeting.

DECIDED: That the update be received.

22 EARLY OUTCOMES FUND PROJECT.

The Early Outcomes Fund Project aimed to develop a range of strategies and 
initiatives that would improve children’s speech, language and communication in the 
Early Years. Members received a presentation which gave details on workforce 
training, early communication champions, screening tool training, funded early years 
Level 3 SENCO Training, initial findings and recommendations.

The Panel were very pleased with the work carried out by the Early Outcomes Team 
and found the presentation very informative. Discussion took place around referrals 
to speech and language therapists and the long term benefits of early intervention 
and support for children.

The officers were thanked for attending the meeting.

DECIDED: That the presentation be NOTED.
   

23 WILDFIRE PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER

David Smith – Principal Officer Communities and Partnerships, introduced a report 
which set out measures to reduce the risk of wildfires in high risk areas of the District

Page 5



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 23 November 2020

4

The Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 gave local authorities the 
power to introduce a Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) to control behaviours 
in a public place, which had caused or may cause a detrimental effect on the quality 
of life of those in the locality and would likely to be of a continuing or persistent 
nature and were therefore unreasonable.

Moorlands fires or wildfires could have a range of impacts including loss of life and 
property, damage to wildlife and biodiversity, carbon loss, loss of grazing land, and 
damage to water catchments and supplies. The financial cost of wildfires could also 
be substantial.

The introduction of a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) by the District Council 
could help to reduce the occurrence of wildfires by prohibiting the lighting of fires, 
barbecues, fireworks and Chinese (sky) lanterns. In addition, the Council could work 
with partners to raise awareness of the risks of wildfires and to encourage people to 
behave responsibly.

Members fully supported the introduction of a PSPO and would have liked the 
measures to include residential areas. Members shared their concerns in relation to 
fireworks, enforcement and asked if there had been any co-ordination with 
neighbouring authorities, and if the order could include land owned by parish 
councils.

In response, David Smith advised that it would be difficult for the measures to be 
introduced if the land was not in the Council’s ownership. The new PSPO would be 
launched with an advertising campaign and officers would patrol areas at times 
known to be problematic. A similar order had been discussed with High Peak 
Borough Council and Derbyshire Dales District Council would be contacted. Parish 
councils would need to give their permission for their land to be included in the order 
and evidence that there had been a detrimental impact on their land. Cabinet could 
then consider such requests. 

DECIDED: 

The Panel RECOMMENDED that:-

1) Cabinet agreed to carry out the necessary consultation, publication and 
notification in relation to the draft Order appended to the report;

2) Cabinet subsequently approves the draft Order by Delegated Cabinet 
Decision unless the responses from the consultation necessitate material 
changes to the draft Order.

24 WORK PROGRAMME

The Panel considered its Work Programme and agreed the items listed. 

At this point of the meeting, members of the Panel gave their best wishes to 
Councillor Shaw, Chair of the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel.

DECIDED: That the Work Programme for 2020-21 be agreed.
Page 6



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 23 November 2020

5

The meeting closed at 8:30pm

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel
1st February 2021

Local Policing Team Update, Ch. Insp. Mark Thorley - Neighbourhood Policing 
Team Commander

This 12 months compared to the last Year to Date December 2020.

Whilst I will provide my traditional summary of crime and ASB data I will start by saying 
that this year has been a year like no other. Coronavirus, and the three national 
lockdowns it has generated, led to many changes in the demand generated for the 
Moorlands Neighbourhood Policing Team.

Last year, I reported a 15% reduction in recorded crime. This year, I am pleased to 
report further crime reductions but add that whilst some is down to the hard work of 
my team some is also a direct consequence of the impact Coronavirus has had on our 
community.

All crime
Moorlands - down 10 %
407 Less crimes

Incident demand (calls for service).
Moorlands - down 3 %
495 fewer calls for service

Crimes across all crime groups have reduced with the exception of “other violence”, 
this is a group made up of many offences which shows an increase in three main 
areas, that being Stalking, Harassment and Malicious Communications. The increase 
seen in “other violence” is up 14% and equates to 175 more crimes than the previous 
year, 1,410 – 1,235.

With regard to the three crime types mentioned this does not, as may be assumed, 
directly relate to significant increases in domestic abuse but can often be attributed to 
such as neighbour disputes and social media disagreements.

Domestic abuse across the Moorlands has overall seen a 3% reduction which equates 
to 47 less incidents reported. We have also seen reductions in domestic abuse repeat 
victims and perpetrators.

Burglary residential, Last year I reported a reduction of 12%, this year sees further 
reductions of 22%, (33 less offences).

Criminal damage, Last year a 21% reduction, this year a further reduction of 14% (89 
less offences).

Theft from a Motor Vehicle, Last year a 40% increase, this year a reduction of 34% 
(54 less crimes).

Theft of motor vehicles, Last year a 9% increase, this year a reduction of 24% (18 
less crimes). 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



It should be noted that as ever, a small percentage of offenders can be responsible 
for a disproportionate number of crimes, as has been seen in Leek recently, with two 
men and a small number of people in Cheadle during the summer of 2020. It has been 
the case that despite the Police bringing these repeat offenders to justice, the impact 
of Coronavirus on the court system and prisons has meant delays in sentences that 
would previously have taken less time.

We continue to identify and target these repeat offenders, not only to prosecute where 
appropriate but to also work with them to try and divert them away from offending by 
working with partners to address the negative influences they may have in their lives 
that lead them to commit crime, such as substance abuse, homelessness, or 
blockages to receiving benefits.

We have also worked closely with our partners to identify and utilise alternative ways 
by which to end offending such as house closure orders, evictions and civil remedies 
to great effect.

Early in the year during the first lockdown we saw a noticeable reduction in travelling 
criminals coming to the Moorlands to commit crime as few people were using the 
roads. This problem though has since returned and we have unfortunately started to 
see offenders from such places as Stoke on Trent and Derbyshire travel into the 
Moorlands to commit crime again.

We continue to successfully police this by proactive patrols, retrospective 
investigations and use of analytical tools to predict crime trends and then evidentially 
support prosecution

ASB 
Moorlands – 10% reduction (194 fewer incidents)

Again a very different year with the implications Covid has brought, historically ASB 
drivers would be rowdy and inconsiderate youths or similar, whilst we did see some 
of this early during the summer in places such as Werrington it has not been as 
previously experienced.

Whereas this year we have seen an increase in reports of ASB as a consequence of 
Covid restrictions, such as groups gathering, concerns around those who may not be 
self-distancing, neighbours having visitors they shouldn’t etc.

Road traffic collisions
There continues to be reductions in those killed or seriously injured on the roads of 
the Staffordshire Moorlands with consistent reductions over the past two years.
Currently there is a 43% reduction in collisions classed as Killed or seriously injured, 
two people died on the Moorlands roads during the last year, the same number as 
the year before, but there have been ten less collisions resulting in serious injury.
We have this year benefitted from the support of the Road Policing Team who are 
frequent visitors to the Moorlands holding many days / evenings of action to target 
driving offences and the use of our roads by criminals.

Page 10



Incidents of note

We have had two racially motivated incidents of note this year, the abhorrent abuse of 
a Taxi driver which was recorded and published on social media, and the racially 
motivated abuse of a young male in Leek town centre the night the pubs opened after 
the first lock down. Such crimes remain an exception for the Moorlands and I have not 
seen any increase in racially motivated crimes in the Moorlands.

Reassuringly both of these crime mentioned were promptly investigated, the victims 
supported and a speedy conviction for the incident in the town centre and the person 
charged with racially abusing the taxi driver due in court soon.

Late summer in the Biddulph area we experienced a brief series of drug related violent 
incidents which were quickly addressed by use of surge Policing tactics.

Those identified as being involved were targeted for searches, positive Police action 
was taken at any incident in which they were involved, and some great partnership 
work was undertaken simultaneously to address vulnerability, protect children 
associated to the violence and where necessary remove children and evict those who 
failed to heed warnings that continued ASB and drug related incidents attributed to 
them could lead to eviction.

Annual overview

Policing during a worldwide pandemic has been, and continues to be challenging, 
however the Moorlands Policing team continues to work hard, not only to reduce crime 
and ASB, but also this year working hard to protect, support and advise the community 
regarding Covid, and where necessary applying the new Covid specific laws.

Covid has understandably presented new Policing demands such as responding to 
reports of breaches of the legislation, addressing the communities concerns generated 
by gatherings in public spaces, the enforcement of track and trace orders to self-
isolate, proactively patrolling to ensure compliance by those business premises 
instructed to close, and many other Covid related demands to protect the community 
and reduce the demand on the NHS by limiting the spread of the virus.

The closure of Public houses and restaurants led to town centres presenting very 
different demands with frequently little night time economy and, as a positive 
consequence, a reduction in the usually associated violence and disorder, but at 
other times a busier day time economy with many visitors.

We have consistently seen visitors to our rural beauty spots increase in numbers 
never experienced before. This has presented issues which, though often not Police 
related, have impacted greatly on Police resources, that being parking issues, 
reports of littering, reported lack of social distancing etc. We have worked closely 
with our council partners, Peak Parks, Rangers and local enterprise to address and 
target these issues.

I have asked for, and have seen, my staff take a very pragmatic and common sense 
approach to Covid enforcement. Our role through all of this has been to engage with 
the community to explain the Covid legislation, only using enforcement where 
necessary, a difficult balance, which I believe has been achieved in the Moorlands 
as well as, if not better than, most areas.

Page 11



So, a year very different to any other I have ever Policed before, one that has at 
times been really challenging for my team and I, but one during which I have seen 
partners and ourselves pull together like I have not seen before, and for most of the 
time seen a greater community spirit than has been seen for many years.

Resources.

I have 21 Neighbourhood Police Constables, I currently carry two vacancies.
I have a team of 18 PCSO’s.
I have four NPT Sgts.
I have 2 Investigating Officers (IO’s) though I have one who is unfortunately currently 
long term sick.
I have a Vulnerability coordinator who works within the harm reduction hub at Leek.

As part of the directorate policing model our response Policing continues to be 
supplied from a central hub at Hanley who move to deployment locations across the 
Moorlands at the start of their tour of duty.

The NPT is led by myself.

Ch. Insp Mark Thorley.

Page 12



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel

1 February 2021

TITLE: Call-in of the Delegated Decision - Proposal 
for use of Discretionary Disabled Facilities 
funding for a Community Project at the 
South Moorlands Leisure Centre, Cheadle

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Mike Bowen - Portfolio Holder for 
Communities

CONTACT OFFICER: Sally Hampton - Member and Community 
Services Officer

WARDS INVOLVED: Cheadle South East

Appendix A – Delegated Decision Report 23rd December 2020
Appendix B – Call-in Procedure

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 To consider the Call-in request of the Delegated Decision in relation to the 
proposal for use of discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant funding for a 
community project at the South Moorlands Leisure Centre in Cheadle.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Call-in request be considered in accordance with the Council’s Call-in 
Procedure (Appendix B).

3. Executive Summary

3.1 The Portfolio Holder has considered a report which sought approval for the 
use of discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) funding for a community 
project at the South Moorlands Leisure Centre, Allen Street, Cheadle. The 
report determined the scope of the eligible works and the commensurate level 
of funding to be approved.

3.2 The decision made was: -That approval is granted for the use of DFG 
funding to the community project at South Moorlands Leisure Centre on the 
terms set out in the report.

3.3 Following this decision, call-in requests have been received from Councillors: -  
C. Atkins, L. Swindlehurst, K. Hoptroff, M. Gledhill, N. Yates and B. Cawley.

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



3.4 The call-in request confirmed the following principles of decision making
which they believed had not been adhered to:

 taking due regard of all relevant considerations and disregarding 
irrelevant considerations; 

 respect for human rights and equalities; 
 a presumption in favour of openness; and 
 clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 

3.5 Councillors have detailed their concerns below: -

1) Although we fully support the use of Discretionary Disabled 
Facilities Grants to provide much needed Changing Places 
Facilities within Staffordshire Moorlands, the lack of consultation, 
clear aims and openness over the plans for the development of 
Cheadle town centre raise doubts over whether it is appropriate to 
allocate such funding to South Moorlands Leisure Centre as its 
future is now uncertain. 

2) The cost of providing the Changing Places Facility at over £29,000 
needs to be properly scrutinised before such payments are 
sanctioned to demonstrate that this is ‘excellent value for money’ 
as stated.

3) If equalities are to be properly respected, all relevant sites within 
Staffordshire Moorlands should be assessed for the provision of 
such vital Changing Places Facilities to ensure their maximum use 
and accessibility. This requires a strategic assessment taking on 
board all relevant considerations rather than just accepting a 
single bid.

3.6 The Panel is asked to consider the call-in request, in accordance with the 
Council’s call-in procedure (Appendix B).
 

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Delegated Decision report attached Sally Hampton
Member and Community Services Officer
sally.hampton@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

Page 14



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Cabinet Delegated Decision

23 December 2020

TITLE: Proposal for use of Discretionary Disabled 
Facilities funding for a Community Project at 
the South Moorlands Leisure Centre, 
Cheadle

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Bowen - Portfolio Holder for 
Communities

CONTACT OFFICER: Alicia Patterson – Head of Environmental 
Health

WARDS INVOLVED: Cheadle South East Ward

Appendices Attached:  None

1. Reason for the Report:

1.1 To seek approval for the use of discretionary Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
funding for a community project at the South Moorlands Leisure Centre, Allen 
Street, Cheadle.

1.2 To determine the scope of the eligible works and the commensurate level of 
funding to be approved.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Portfolio Holder approves the use of DFG funding to the community 
project at South Moorlands Leisure Centre on the terms set out in the report.

3. Executive Summary

3.1 An application for discretionary funding has been received from Lex Leisure in 
connection with the South Moorlands Leisure Centre, Allen Street, Cheadle. 
The application is seeking funding for a community project to provide a 
Changing Places facility.

3.2 The Leisure Centre is operated by Lex Leisure and provides essential services 
to the residents of the Staffordshire Moorlands and beyond. The proposed 

Page 15



Project is intended to open up the Centre to provide the widest possible 
access for the local disabled community, allowing full participation both as 
employees and attendees.

3.3 The proposal is to install a full Changing Places facility to allow disabled users 
to access and use the leisure facilities and to also allow visitors to the area to 
access a suitable facility whilst visiting. There is currently no public Changing 
Places facility within the Staffordshire Moorlands area. Further, although the 
Council is currently reviewing options for the future of the Leisure Centre, it is 
anticipated that any decision which may impact on the current use of the 
building will take some while to be implemented, such that the proposed 
investment in the building’s facilities is considered to be appropriate to meet 
the priority to ensure full accessibility to all users of the facility.

3.4 Quotes for the works have been obtained, and approval is sought to provide 
funding towards this project. 

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 This report supports the Council’s Corporate Priorities as follows:-

 To help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to 
live and work.

 To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of 
towns and villages:

(i) Opportunities for vulnerable, disabled local residents to obtain 
access to community facilities on an equitable basis and participate 
fully in local community events.

(ii) Assists in the improvement of community facilities across the District 
and aids the provision of adaptations to benefit not just individuals in 
their own homes, but from access to and involvement in a wider 
range of community premises and activities.

5. Implications

5.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

None.

5.2 Workforce

None.

5.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies.

Ensuring the services and facilities available in the future meet the 

Page 16



needs and expectations of all users.

5.4 Financial Considerations

The agreement to use the Better Care Fund money for non-
discretionary purposes is established, and so the funding can be 
provided as long as the Council can continue to meet its 
obligations to clients who have a mandatory right to DFG 
assistance. In the event that the Council does not achieve a 
reasonable level of spend against the budget, there is a risk that 
future Better Care Fund allocations will be reduced accordingly.

5.5 Legal

The Council’s Housing Renewal Policy determines the grounds on 
which funding can be made available, and the Policy includes 
provision for discretionary funding.

The Annual Disabled Facilities Capital Grant (DFG) Determination 
2020-21 (31/5037) issued by the Minister for Local Government 
and Homelessness states that any money paid under this grant 
determination must only be used for the specific purpose of funding 
adaptations for disabled people who qualify for a Disabled Facilities 
Grant made under the Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 (mandatory DFG) or under the Regulatory 
Reform (Housing Assistance) Order 2002 (Housing Renewal or 
Assistance Policy) or any other social care capital projects where 
otherwise agreed with the relevant authority (as covered in the 
report to SILIS Executive Steering Group referred to in this report)

5.6 Climate Change

Provides long-term improvements to community facilities that 
ensure ongoing access for the wider community.

5.7 Internal and External Consultation

Member consultation at Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
03/10/2018, and agreement at SILIS Strategic Partnership Board 
on 08/11/2018 in relation to the use of funding in the manner 
proposed.

5.8 Risk Assessment

Risk associated with reduction in future DFG funding due to 
significant underspend of the Council’s contribution from the Better 
Care Fund.

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Page 17



6. Background and Detail

6.1 Disabled Facilities Grants are a mandatory function of the Council and provide 
disabled residents in non-council homes who meet certain criteria with funding 
to undertake adaptations that will allow them to remain in their homes.

6.2 Under current arrangements the service provider for delivery of Disabled 
Facilities Grants in Staffordshire Moorlands is Millbrook Healthcare Ltd, who 
act as the Home Improvement Agency across Staffordshire on behalf of the 
District and Borough Councils.

6.3 Over the last 3 financial years, the level of funding provided to Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council from the Better Care Fund at the County Council 
has increased dramatically, with some £1.2m being made available for use in 
the District year on year. This funding is effectively double the funding level 
that the authority would previously routinely receive, and as a result there is a 
significant surplus of funding once the mandatory DFG applicants have been 
provided for.

6.4 During a DFG Debate at the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 
3rd October 2018, comments were sought on a proposal for the 
Head of Environmental Health to take a report to the Strategic Partnership 
Board that oversees the DFG Programme across Staffordshire to request that 
the surplus DFG Funding over and above the mandatory demand be used for 
discretionary cases as well – i.e. those cases that traditionally sit outside the 
mandatory criteria but nevertheless are deserving of assistance that if not 
provided, would undoubtedly lead to isolation at home and a lack of 
participation in community life. The Panel agreed to support the proposal.

6.5 A report was subsequently presented to the Support for Independent Living in 
Staffordshire (SILIS) Strategic Partnership Board on 8th November 2018. The 
Partnership Board is made up of all the Chief Executive Officers from the 
participating Staffordshire Councils, and also includes representatives from 
the County Council and the Public Health/NHS partners that set the agenda 
for Better Care Fund use. The Report outlined the principles under which 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council would seek to utilise the non-
mandatory funding stream, and sought the agreement of the Steering Group 
for using the Better Care Fund programme for discretionary and community-
based projects in the District. The proposals in the report were agreed.

6.6 The Discretionary DFG Funding has subsequently been used for a number of 
projects – to provide top-up funding for DFG Applicants who do not have 
sufficient funds to contribute to large projects that cost more than the £35K 
mandatory grant maximum; to help people to move house where their existing 
property cannot be adapted to suit their needs, and to contribute to several 
community projects that have provided access to existing and purpose-built 
community facilities. The community projects have proved hugely successful – 
as a result, it has generated more interest from community groups and 

Page 18



operators of community facilities, and the most recent application is in relation 
to the South Moorlands Leisure Centre.

6.7 When considering large scale community projects, it is considered appropriate 
to consult the relevant Portfolio Holder as the sums involved can be significant 
and to meet the need to be transparent in our decision-making.

6.8 As a general principle the proposals must:

- Relate to a capital project that adapts, upgrades or improves a 
premises for the local community.

- Address either a physical disability or a defined mental health disability.
- Be built on a sound business case.
- Ideally complement existing fund-raising, grant applications or capital 

investment by the applicant.
- Be limited to a level of contribution commensurate with the expected 

local impact – a ‘value for money’ assessment, in other words.

6.9 The quotation of £29,150.00 for the construction and fitting of the Changing 
Places facility at South Moorlands Leisure Centre has been assessed against 
the above priorities, and whilst the Leisure Centre is operated on a 
commercial basis the benefit to be gained for the community in carrying out 
this work is deemed to be excellent value for money, and so approval is 
sought to contribute funding to this project. The resources available to the 
Council for non-discretionary work are more than sufficient to provide this level 
of funding. Further, although the Council is currently reviewing options for the 
future of the Leisure Centre, it is anticipated that any decision which may 
impact on the current use of the building will take some while to be 
implemented, such that the proposed investment in the building’s facilities is 
considered to be appropriate to meet the priority to ensure full accessibility to 
all users of the facility.

6.10 It should be noted that the applicant is investing a contribution of £3,400.00 in 
the project, and so the contribution sought from the Council is £25,750.00.

6.11 It should be noted that the costs quoted are for the works on site, and do not 
include any fees associated with the work, such as planning consent, building 
control consent, architect and agency fees etc. Whilst the applicant has stated 
in the Application that these fees are not included in the quotation, any such 
fees will be additional to the total approved. The applicant is managing the 
project directly and has sourced their own quotation which includes their 
management fee, and Planning Consent for disabled adaptations is normally 
free of charge, so it is not anticipated that there will be any significant 
additional cost implications to the final approval.

6.12 The provision of Changing Places facilities is extremely limited nationally and 
there are currently no public designated Changing Places facilities in the 
Staffordshire Moorlands area. The provision of purpose-built public access 
facilities of this kind will be of huge benefit not just to the Leisure Centre users, 
but to other members of the local community and to visitors to the area. 

Page 19



6.13 People with profound and multiple learning disabilities, as well people with 
other physical disabilities such as spinal injuries, muscular dystrophy and 
multiple sclerosis often need extra equipment and space to allow them to use 
the toilets safely and comfortably. These needs are met by Changing Places 
toilets.

6.14 Standard accessible toilets do not meet the needs of all people with a 
disability. A standard accessible WC is designed for independent use by an 
individual. Grab rails are located to the side and rear of the pan, aiding self-
transfer between the wheelchair and the WC. In some cases, a wheelchair 
user can be assisted, but there is usually insufficient space for two carers. 
Standard accessible WCs are designed to facilitate access by a standard 
wheelchair, but are unlikely to accommodate a powered wheelchair or those 
fitted with additional head or leg supports. Changing Places facilities are 
designed for people who cannot use standard accessible toilets.  Changing 
Places toilets should, wherever practicable, be provided in addition to 
standard accessible toilets.

6.15 Many people with profound and multiple learning disabilities, as well other 
disabilities that severely limit mobility, cannot use standard accessible toilets. 
People may be limited in their own mobility and so need equipment to help 
them, or may need support from one or two carers. Standard accessible toilets 
(or "disabled toilets") do not provide changing benches or hoists and most are 
too small to accommodate more than one person. Without Changing Places 
toilets, the person with disabilities is put at risk, and families are forced to risk 
their own health and safety by changing their loved one on a toilet floor. This is 
dangerous, unhygienic and undignified.

6.16 Each Changing Places toilet provides:-

The right equipment:
- a height adjustable adult-sized changing bench;
- a tracking hoist system, or mobile hoist if this is not possible.

Enough space:
- adequate space in the changing area for the disabled person and up 
to two carers;

- a centrally placed toilet with room either side;
- a screen or curtain to allow some privacy.

A safe and clean environment:
- wide tear off paper roll to cover the bench;
- a large waste bin for disposable pads;
- a non-slip floor.

6.17 It is now accepted and expected that everyone has a right to live in the 
community, to move around within it and access all its facilities. Government 
policy promotes the idea of "community participation" and "active citizenship," 
but for some people with disabilities the lack of a fully accessible toilet denies 
them this right and restricts their opportunities to participate fully in their local 

Page 20



community facilities and activities. Providing these toilets in public places 
makes a dramatic difference to the lives of the local disabled community.

Page 21



APPENDIX 1

QUOTATION FOR A CHANGING PLACES FACILITY
SOUTH MOORLANDS LEISURE CENTRE

Changing Places - Conversion

Item Nr. Component Works Detail Task Type

Funding 
Application 
Budget

I
t
e
mTo Summary

Demolition
1.01 Structure Adjust doorway and remove lobby to create clear opening width Remove 2,000.00£       
1.02 Fittings Clear room, remove doors and prepare Remove 500.00£          
1.03 Drainage - foul Create connection to foul waste within floor Install 3,000.00£       

Fabric
2.01 Lighting Install new Install -
2.02 Ventilation Provide forced mechanical extract vent Install 750.00£          
2.03 Electrical distribution Sub mains and mains Replace 750.00£          
2.04 Water Provide water services (hot and cold from existing supplies) Install 1,000.00£       
2.05 Doors, gates, walls New fully wrapped entrance door and ironmongery Replace 1,500.00£       
2.06 Floors Install epoxy grout joints and acid wash floor Refurbish -
2.07 Ceiling New to accommodate ceiling hoist Install  £       2,500.00 

Fixtures and Fittings
3.01 WC Doc M compliant WC pack Install 4,000.00£       
3.02 Sink Fixed wash basin Install 700.00£          
3.03 Shower TMV shower unit and hose Install  £       1,250.00 
3.04 Changing bench Height Adjustable - pneumatic Install 4,000.00£       
3.05 Ceiling hoist X/Y Track - assume suitable structural capacity Install  £       4,000.00 
3.06 Safety Grab rails Install 300.00£          

Finishes
4.01 Decoration Walls Refurbish -
4.02 Signage DDA Install 250.00£          

Fees
5.01 Management Site management PM fees only @10% - no permissions Fee 2,650.00£       

Total 29,150.00£      29,150.00£      

Page 22



PROCEDURE FOR CONSIDERATION OF CALL-INS
AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL MEETINGS

The Chair to introduce the 
report which will detail the 
reasons for the call-in and 
those Members who called 

in the decision.

The Members present at the 
meeting who signed the 

call-in be requested to give 
reasons for their call-in.

The Portfolio Holder to 
respond to those reasons.

All other Members of the 
Panel be invited to 

contribute to the debate.

The Chair to call for a vote on 
whether or not to refer back to 

Cabinet/relevant Portfolio Holder 
the decision for reconsideration.

Where the Panel decided 
(by a vote) not to refer back 

a decision to 
Cabinet/relevant portfolio 
holder for reconsideration, 
the Cabinet/ be asked to 
note or take account of 
concerns as it sees fit 
without holding up the 
implementation of the 

decision.

APPENDIX B

Where the Panel decided 
(by a vote) to refer back a 

decision to Cabinet/relevant 
portfolio holder for 

reconsideration, then the 
decision maker shall then 
reconsider within a further 

10 working days, amending 
the decision or not, before 
adopting a final decision.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - Work Programme 2020/21

Date Items for Agenda
27 July 2020

COVID-19 – Community Recovery

5 October 2020
Your Housing Group – waiting to confirm 6pm start is ok
Climate Change Update Report
Early Outcomes Fund Project TBC

23 Nov 2020
Staffordshire Commissioner Annual Update
Early Outcomes Project Fund  
Wildfire Public Spaces Protection Order

1 Feb 2021  
Public Spaces Protection Order - Alcohol Exclusion Zones
Local Policing Team Annual Update
Call-In - Disabled Facilities Grant - South Moorlands Leisure Centre

22 March 2021
Refreshed Community Safety Strategy
Update - Levels of Pollution and the Air Quality Action Plan (TBC)

Key Organisations to Invite/ Schedule Annually
Staffordshire Commissioner Annual Update 
Local Policing Team  Annual Update 
Your Housing – 6 Monthly Update 
Fire & Rescue  Service Annual Update 
Citizens Advice Bureau Annual Update  
Assets of Community Value

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To Approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting.
	6 Local Policing Team Annual Update - Chief Inspector Mark Thorley. (6:20 p.m)
	8 Call-in of the Delegated Decision - Proposal for use of Discretionary Disabled Facilities funding for a Community Project at the South Moorlands Leisure Centre, Cheadle (7:10 p.m)
	Appendix A - Delegated Decision Report 23rd Dec 2020
	Appendix B - Call-in Procedure

	9 Work Programme (7:40 p.m)

